IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-001067

Eugene Patterson.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina.....Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Elizabeth A. Franklin-Best
SC Bar No. 72555
Blume Franklin-Best & Young, LLC
900 Elmwood Avenue, Suite 200
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 765-1044
betsy@blumelaw.com

Other Counsel of Record:

Clay Mitchell
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
Rembert Dennis Building
1000 Assembly Street
Columbia, S.C. 29201

RECEIVED

JAN 30 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did appellate counsel render ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to raise the issue that the trial court judge erroneously presented the jury with the mutual combat jury instruction?
- II. Did the PCR judge err when he found trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to object to the trial court judge's jury instruction on transferred intent?
- III. Did the PCR judge err when he found trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to object to the trial court judge's jury instruction on proximate cause?
- IV. Did the PCR judge err when he found that trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to move for a severance?
- V. Did trial counsel render ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to contemporaneously object to the victim's family being pointed out by an investigator to the jury during trial?
- VI. Did the PCR judge err when he found that appellate counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to raise the issue of the trial judge's improperly allowing hearsay evidence from State's witness, Robert Portee, that he was threatened when others learned he was cooperating with law enforcement?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Eugene Patterson, was indicted by the Richland County grand jury during its April 2007 term for murder. He was represented at trial by Tivis C. Sutherland, IV. He was tried before the Honorable William P. Keesley and a jury between May 5-13, 2008. He was convicted and sentenced to 45 years in prison.

Petitioner then timely filed a notice of appeal, and the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed by unpublished opinion. *State v. Eugene Patterson*, 2013-UP-154 (Ct. App. filed April 17, 2013). Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari to the South Carolina Supreme Court. This Court denied the petition by Order dated January 23, 2014.

Petitioner then filed a *pro se* application for post-conviction relief on February 25, 2014. No amended petitions were filed on Petitioner's behalf. An evidentiary hearing was held on July 15, 2015 before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper at the Richland County courthouse. Petitioner was represented by Jonathan Waller, Esquire.

The Order of Dismissal was filed on December 23, 2015, and no Rule 59(e) motion was filed on Petitioner's behalf. This petition for writ of certiorari timely follows.

A. Statement of Relevant Facts

The facts of this tragic killing of a young man outside of a Waffle House in Columbia, South Carolina are uncomplicated. The State's theories pursuing these convictions against two young men, unknown to one another but both present when the victim was killed, however, were highly complicated. Indeed, the State switched theories of criminal liability midstream during the trial, morphing from a theory of accessory liability during its opening argument to one of mutual combat by the end of the case. The erroneous jury instructions given by the trial judge provide the basis for three of Petitioner's claims below.

On February 19, 2007, the victim, Brian Wright, was shot once in the back of the head outside of the restaurant in Columbia, South Carolina where young people had congregated to watch a fight between two young men, Corey Sanders and Chad Robinson. Eyewitnesses identified three people who were shooting that night-- Petitioner, Eugene Patterson, Andre Tayson Boone, and Oliver Feldman. Boone admitted that he fired the first shot. "I shot two times in the air just to stop the fighting." App. 1421, l. 15. Feldman testified that he and Petitioner fired at Boone in self-defense. App. 826. Other witnesses corroborated Feldman's account. App. 747-765. Petitioner did not testify.

The projectile that killed the victim was never recovered, and at the beginning of the trial, the State conceded that it would be unable to identify "who fired the shot that actually killed" the victim. App. 313. The State conceded that the victim's death was unintentional, but claimed that the "[t]he gun battle itself killed" the victim. App. 1344. Based on this, all three men were charged with murder.

Captain Stan Smith of the Richland County Sheriff's Office testified before the jury to the State's theory of the case:

In essence what I'm referencing when I wrote that was that I had three individuals that came to a fist fight, a premeditated fist fight, that was supposed to be a fist fight, they were armed. In my view, that demonstrated premeditation. At some juncture in this fist fight, one individual pulled out a firearm. There was returned fire after shots were fired in the air that were directed at that individual.

In the previous part of that paragraph shows the phrase transferred intent. Those individuals were shooting back at the person who first fired and the person who first fired then changed his course from firing into the air to back at those individuals. And even though I wouldn't contend that any of them meant to kill Brian Wright, Brian Wright became the victim of all three of them's intent in their firing methods and that is, in essence, why the gun battle killed Brian Wright.

App. 1343-44.

At trial, it was revealed that law enforcement failed to interview a number of witnesses who were present at the scene and who may have had information pertinent to the investigation. App. 1248-1251. Law enforcement even had information that another person, Rob Portee, may have fired a weapon that night. App. 1259-60. Or someone with "pigtails." App. 1260-61. Feldman turned State's witness,¹ and Petitioner and Boone were tried together. Petitioner and Boone did not know one another. Petitioner's defense was self-defense. The trial judge appropriately instructed the jury on that defense. App. 1665.

The critical defect in this case that denied Petitioner his right to due process is the State's use of a novel theory upon which it based Petitioner's criminal culpability. The State's changing its theory midstream is evidence that it lacked a cohesive legal basis for pursuing its cases against two young men, without any prior relationship, for the crime of murder. Petitioner raises two sets of claims for this Court's consideration in his petition for writ of certiorari—claims related to the jury instructions given by the judge which empowered the jury to consider the State's ill-conceived legal theory, and then general claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.

¹ Despite being equally culpable of murder under the State's theory, Feldman pleaded guilty on October 30, 2008 to reduced charges and received a sentence of 10 and 15 years suspended to 3 years of probation.

B. Jury Instruction Claims

The State's theory of this case changed-- midstream-- from the time of its opening argument to its closing argument. As outlined in its opening argument, its theory was this:

I mentioned it to you earlier, the hand of one is the hand of all. **If you have two people who join together for some sort of criminal purpose, such as robbing a store, and during the course of that, you, person A, are liable for everything done by person B that is incidental to that act.** So if person A and person B agree to commit a robbery, person A hauls off and beats the clerk, person B is just as responsible as person A even though he never threw a punch. That's the law in this state.

And along those same lines, if two people **combine together** to commit an unlawful act, again like arming yourself with a firearm and engaging in a gun battle with a rival gang member and in the process a homicide is committed, then all of the participants in that act, all of the participants in that gun battle are as guilty as the person who actually killed the victim. That's the law in this state.

App. 320-21 (emphasis added).

As previously mentioned, Petitioner and Boone did not know one another. And the State never offered any evidence to show that they planned the shoot-out that occurred that night. Sensing its weaknesses because the judge clearly informed the State of the problems he saw in their case, the State changed its theory. The trial court judge informed the State that it was "really struggling" with the State's theory of criminal liability. App. 1040.

I'm really struggling with the aiding and abetting, hand of one hand of all, accomplice liability, things that were argued in the opening statement. I have read the most recent cases all the way back to whatever I could find till about 1920... Generally, people that are aiding and abetting and assisting each other are people who are accomplices from which the term hand of one hand all typically stems, those people are acting in concert... I guess what I need to tell ya'll is that you need to get your folks that you can working on getting me cases that are similar in nature to the one we have before us. I've even read lynching in first degree cases where there's mob violence that results in a death. I've read everything I could think of and I need your help on these concepts of how you can hold two people responsible for the death of a person. I know you can. I know there are many instances when you can... Those are the things that are concerning me. Those are the things ya'll need to be looking at and any help you can give me, I'd appreciate it.

App. 1040-42.

After defense counsel for both defendants made their motions for directed verdict based, in part, on the State's novel theory of legal liability, the judge, in denying their motions, stated:

"All right. I'm going to read everything you all have supplied, but at this stage, I'm going to deny the motions for a directed verdict.

I read what had been supplied to me and looked at that over the weekend and, obviously, I'll look at this that's just been handed up today. And we're still trying to get some resources that we don't have a subscription for, but we're trying to get them, one thing in particular.

And I don't know if I can explain to you what I think is the applicable law right now. It's kind of an evolving process... Now, here's how I'm boiling it down in my head right now. I don't think you've got an accomplice situation. I don't think you've got aiding and abetting and assisting. What I think you've got is a proximate cause issue. I think you've got two people allegedly engaged-- three people allegedly engaged in improper activity. And the question is can you hold all three responsible when you don't know which bullet went through Mr. Wright's head?

I think the answer to that question is, yes, you can hold all three responsible, but I don't think it's of the theory that they were joining together as confederates or that they were in some sort of common scheme, though I realize, going back to that twisting logic around stuff I talked about earlier and last week, that one can sit there and think about a situation where you say, okay there wouldn't be a gun fight except for the two of the combining to do it, so they are acting in combination. The thing is I think that gets us adrift of what the legal theory is... It's a long winded explanation to tell you where I am right now, but basically I think you have more of a proximate cause issue, which is typically something we struggle with in civil court not in criminal court, but you have a proximate cause issue and whether two people can be held responsible or three people can be held responsible for the death of an individual when clearly only one bullet struck that individual. And, again, I think the answer to that question is yes.

App. 1382-1386.

Based on that admonition and insight from the judge, the State reemerged with its reified "mutual combat" theory. In closing argument, the State argued:

Ladies and Gentlemen, they've got a sign up here, which they've put in, Captain Smith, the nature of the room prevents the actual determination of the murder weapon to ever be made; therefore, **all parties involved in the gun battle will be held accountable for Wright's death...the gun battle itself and each contributor to that gun battle killed the victim...** I submit, ladies and gentlemen, when Tayson Boone started shooting, when Eugene Patterson and Oliver Feldman went back to their car and got their guns and started shooting, those acts combined together as a proximate cause. Those three people combined, in rival gangs, to cause the death of Brian Wright and that is the law of our state. Listen to the judge.

App. 1502, l. 25- 1504, l. 8.

In other words, the State's theory of the case transformed from one of accessory liability to one more expressly of "mutual combat." The judge instructed the jury as to mutual combat, transferred intent, and proximate cause. The judge's giving of these instructions amounted to legal error that denied Petitioner his right to due process. There was no "mutual combat" because Eugene Patterson and Andre Boone did not 1) know one another or 2) plan to fight one another. They were present at the crime scene to observe a fight between two other young men, Corey Sanders and Chad Robinson. If anyone is guilty of "mutual combat" it is Sanders and Robinson.

During his charge to the jury, the judge instructed the jury as to self-defense. App. 1665. In connection with this affirmative defense, the judge also charged mutual combat: "If a defendant voluntarily participated in mutual combat for purposes other than protection, **the shooting would not be in self-defense.**" App. 1666. ll. 10-12 (emphasis added). In other words, the judge instructed the jury that the if they found "mutual combat" then Petitioner did not have a defense to this crime.

The trial court judge erred in charging the jury with the instructions for mutual combat, transferred intent, and proximate cause. As to the mutual combat issue, trial counsel repeatedly objected to this charge, but the trial judge overruled the charge. App. 1361-66, 1478. Appellate counsel failed to raise the issue. As to transferred intent and proximate cause jury charges, trial

counsel did not object. Appellate counsel's failure to raise the issue of mutual combat rendered his performance deficient. Additionally, trial counsel's failure to object to transferred intent and proximate cause rendered his performance deficient.

C. Arguments

I. Appellate counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to raise the issue that the trial court judge erroneously presented the jury with the mutual combat jury instruction.

Trial counsel repeatedly objected to the judge's instructions on mutual combat App. 161-66, 1478, 1507-08. The PCR court found this issue was preserved for direct appeal, even though appellate counsel failed to raise it. App. 1861 ("This Court agrees with Counsel and finds that he did properly object and preserve for appeal the issue of whether the jury should have been charged with mutual combat. Counsel objected to the mutual combat charge, and Judge Keesley ruled there was ample evidence supporting the charge").

"Mutual combat" was an erroneous instruction in this case. As this Court has held in *State v. Taylor*, 356 S.C. 227, 589 S.E.2d 1 (2003), the case law in this state establishes that there must be "mutual intent and willingness to fight" to constitute mutual combat. *State v. Graham*, 260 S.C. 449, 450, 196 S.E.2d 495, 495 (1973). The doctrine has most often been applied in situations where the defendant and decedent bear a grudge against each other before the fight in which one of them is killed. *State v. Porter*, 269 S.C. 618, 239 S.E.2d 641 (1977). See *Graham, supra* (finding mutual combat charge proper where appellant and deceased had quarreled prior to the killing, each knew that the other was armed with a pistol, and each fired his gun at the other); *State v. Mathis*, 174 S.C. 344, 177 S.E.318 (1934) (finding mutual combat charge proper based on testimony that appellant and deceased were on the lookout for each other, that each was armed in anticipation of meeting the other, and that each drew and fired his pistol at the other). In *Taylor*,

this Court expressly adopted the restrictions on the applicability of mutual combat by the courts in Georgia, Colorado, and Texas. In those jurisdictions, a pre-existing dispute is a prerequisite for mutual combat to be charged. In other words, an “antecedent agreement to fight” must be present.

The danger with giving a mutual combat instruction when it is not warranted is that it places a “heavier burden than required” for self-defense. See *Grant v. State*, 120 Ga. App. 244, 170 S.E.2d 55, 56 (1969). The Court found in *Taylor* that:

mutual combat acts as a bar to self-defense because it requires mutual agreement to fight on equal terms for purposes other than protection. This is inherently inconsistent with the concept of self-defense, and directly conflicts with the “no fault” finding necessary to establish self-defense. As such, it is only logical that the evidence of agreement to fight be plain...

Here, as in *Taylor*, “there is no evidence, and the State does not contend, that there was any pre-existing ill-will or dispute” between the two parties, nor was there “evidence that [Kevin] was willing to engage in an *armed* encounter with Petitioner (emphasis in original). In short, the circumstances present in this case do not warrant giving the jury instruction of “mutual combat.” There was no ill-will between Patterson and Boone because they did not know one another. They were both present at a location where **others** were engaged in mutual combat.

The judge’s erroneously giving this charge vitiated Petitioner’s defense. Petitioner was harmed by this legal error, and he respectfully asks this Court to grant his petition for writ of certiorari and allow additional briefing on the issue.

This Court should grant the petition and allow briefing on this issue even though PCR counsel did not raise this issue because the issue is meritorious, and no further factual development by way of an evidentiary hearing is needed to develop the claim.

On direct appeal, appellate counsel raised one issue: The trial court erred by denying Patterson’s motion for a directed verdict of acquittal as the State’s circumstantial evidence against

Patterson was too insubstantial to rise above a mere suspicion that he was guilty. The argument on this claim was 1 ½ pages long. Even though trial counsel properly objected to the judge's giving the mutual combat instruction, appellate counsel failed to raise the argument. PCR counsel, a contract attorney under the Office of Indigent Defense's contract system, then failed to raise the issue.² This Court is capable to assessing the strength of this claim versus the one that appellate counsel raised on direct appeal to determine whether Petitioner is entitled to a new trial. See *Tisdale v. State*, 357 SC. 474, 594 S.E.2d 166 (2004) (court addressed merits of appellate claims even though they were not properly preserved); *Southerland v. State*, 337 S.C. 610, 617, 524 S.E. 2d 833, 836 (Southerland "met his burden by demonstrating both that appellate counsel's performance was deficient and that, but for the deficient performance, the result of his appeal would have been different") See also *Simpkins v. State*, 303 S.C. 364, 401 S.E.2d 152 (1991) (where appellate counsel fails to raise a meritorious issue on appeal that constitutes reversible error, the appropriate relief is a new trial), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Stokes*, 381 S.C. 390, 673 S.E.2d 434 (2009); see also *Ezell v. State*, 345 S.C. 312, 548 S.E.2d 852 (2001) (where the result of an appeal would have been different had appellate counsel not been deficient, the appropriate remedy is to grant a new trial).

This Court should overlook the procedural bar and address the claim on the merits because the claim is sufficient on its face for resolution. No additional factual development is needed because this Court can simply review the pleadings to discern whether appellate counsel should have raised the issue that was properly preserved and is supported by abundant case law, and whether failure to raise the issue prejudiced Petitioner. Since the improper jury instruction prevented the jury from considering Petitioner's defense, it is clear that Petitioner was harmed by

² PCR attorney's employer was the elected Solicitor of Richland County when this case was tried by his office.

the error. For these reasons, Petitioner respectfully asks this Court to grant his petition for writ of certiorari and allow additional briefing on the claim.

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