STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Richland County  
Court of Common Pleas  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016 – 001067  
Lower Court Case No. 2014-CP-40-01202

RECEIVED

JUL 03 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Eugene D. Patterson, #321525,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar #101443

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The PCR court did not consider whether appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise the issue regarding the propriety of the mutual combat jury instruction. Regardless, the jury instruction was proper.**

Petitioner first argues appellate counsel was ineffective on direct appeal in failing to raise the issue of whether the mutual combat jury instruction was proper. While conceding the issue was not raised to the PCR court, Petitioner urges the Court to disregard the procedural bars and review the issue on the merits. First, this Court cannot review an issue that was not raised to or ruled upon by the PCR court. Second, the mutual combat jury instruction was properly given to the jury.

### **How the Issue was Raised at Trial**

Defendant was tried along with codefendant Tayson Boone for murder under a theory of mutual combat. On February 18, 2007, a shootout occurred in the parking lot of a Waffle House in Richland County, where a young bystander was fatally shot in the head. Shell casings from two weapons, a .38 caliber and a 9mm, were recovered. (App. p. 395-96). The bullet that struck the victim was not recovered and the firearms expert concluded that either of the two weapons fired by the defendants had the range to strike the victim if fired from the location of the shell casings. (App. p. 457-59). The pathologist testified that the gunshot wound to the back of the victim's head was a "through and through" wound. (App. p. 1061-67).

Numerous witnesses testified that a fight was planned at the Waffle House between two rival gang members, Corey Sanders and Chad Robinson. (App. p. 536-37; 544-47). Corey Sanders, a member of the bloods gang, testified that he along with Charles Williams and Byron Morant drove to the Waffle House so he could fight Robinson. (App. p. 656). Sanders knew

Robinson was a member of the Folk Nation gang. (App. p. 657). Sanders explained that he and Robinson had an “ongoing beef” and that they set up a fight to resolve those issues. (App. p. 660). Sanders saw Petitioner in the back of a vehicle make a “gun signal” which Sanders described as Petitioner pointing an actual, high caliber, gun as if he was going to shoot directly at him. (App. p. 658). Sanders testified that when going outside of the Waffle House to begin the fight, he noted “the light-skinned guy was already standing outside with a gun in his hand. He wasn’t trying to hide it or anything.” (App. p. 672-73).

Boone went to where Sanders was fighting, near the front of the Waffle House and stated that if others were to “jump in” on the fight then “he was going to shoot them.” (App. p. 563). Robert Portee, a member of the bloods gang, testified that Boone told him that he “was going to chunk at these niggers,” meaning he intended to shoot at them, and Robert heard the “racking of a gun.” (App. p. 616-617). Boone asked Jerome Christopher Thompson for his 9mm pistol and fired it into the air. (App. p. 550-51; 566). Derrick Guilyard testified he went to the Waffle House with Boone. (App. p. 781). Guilyard testified that Boone approached the fight and then returned to his car and retrieved Thompson’s gun and fired it into the air. (App. p. 805-06). William Kee, also a member of the bloods gang, corroborated this testimony that Boone fired the first shots into the air. (App. p. 647-48). Kee testified he heard multiple other shots from both the front and the back of the area. (App. p. 649). Thompson testified that two people, one light-skinned man wearing blue colors and one dark-skinned man also opened fire. (App. p. 568). Boone returned fire. (App. p. 576). Boone, Thompson and the rest of their group then drove away, and Thompson disposed of the gun because he “thought it had a body on it.” (App. p. 579-80).

Karmindae Legget testified that he went to the Waffle House with friends Petitioner and Oliver Feldman to watch the fight. (App. p. 725-27: 743). After the fight began, Legget heard gun shots fired from near the back of the parking lot. (App. p. 732). Petitioner and Feldman then went and retrieved their guns from the vehicle. (App. p. 733-35). Petitioner had a .38 caliber pistol and Feldman had a .32 caliber. (App. p. 733-35). Legget testified that both Petitioner and Felder fired several shots toward the back of the lot. (App. p. 733-35). Shots were then fired back at them. (App. p. 733-35). These events were further corroborated by Samuel Clemons, who was with Boone at the Waffle House. Clemons saw Petitioner and Feldman arrive with Feldman holding a revolver. (App. p. 761-62). He testified that Boone shot in the air and then Petitioner returned fire. (App. p. 765).

Feldman, a member of the Crips gang, testified that he knew Petitioner through a mutual friend and knew him to be a member of the Folk Nation gang. (App. p. 815-16). Feldman was wearing a blue bandana to represent the Crips, and Petitioner was wearing black to represent the Folks. (App. p. 818). Feldman explained that Petitioner received a call to go to the Waffle House because there was a fight planned. (App. p. 818). Petitioner had a .38 caliber pistol and Feldman had a .32 caliber. (App. p. 820). He testified that at first only two people were fighting but then another party intervened to help Corey Sanders. (App. p. 823-25). The fight then escalated to a broader fight between gang members. (App. p. 824-25). Feldman testified that he saw someone from the back of the parking lot shoot into the air. (App. p. 825). Then, the shooter began to fire directly at Feldman and Petitioner. (App. p. 826-27). Petitioner and Feldman then went back to the vehicle and retrieved their guns and returned fire. (App. p. 826-27).

Boone gave a statement to law enforcement that he was a member of the Bloods gang and went to the Waffle House to fight a Folk named Dameon Dowling. (App. p. 665). Boone stated

that the people who they were supposed to fight were “leading us around just so they could get enough people to outnumber us. We figured out that they were wasting time so that they could get their group up.” (App. p. 1295-96). According to Boone, he approached the fight between Sanders and Robinson and a light-skinned man he believed was a Crip told him to back up or he would be shot. (App. p. 1296; 1429). Boone then went to the vehicle and retrieved a 9mm pistol from Thompson. (App. 1296-97). Boone stated that he fired twice into the air and then directly at the man he believed to be a Crip. (App. p. 1297-98). Boone did not believe he could have shot the victim because he fired directly at the Crip, in fact, over his head, and no one was in the line of fire. (App. p. 1298).

### Discussion

**A. The issue of whether appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise the issue of whether the mutual combat jury instruction was properly charged to the jury was not raised below to the PCR court and is therefore not preserved.**

This argument is not preserved for this Court’s review. It is well settled that an issue that has not been presented to or passed upon by the trial judge will not be considered on appeal. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). If an issue is raised but not ruled upon, it is not preserved for appeal. State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (1996). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727. See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”); State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 20 (2011) (“Our law is clear that an issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal.”); On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (holding an

appellant must present both his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before presenting issues and arguments on appeal). Issue preservation rules are meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments. Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C 461, 719 S.E.2d 640 (2011).

Here, the PCR court found that Counsel properly objected and preserved for appellate review the issue of whether the jury should have been charged with the mutual combat instruction. This is supported by the record where Counsel argued that the mutual combat charge was burden shifting and unsupported by the evidence and where Judge Keesley overruled the objection. (App. p. 1469-72). Counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he believed he had preserved the mutual combat issue for direct appeal (App. p. 1837). It was then incumbent on appellate counsel to raise the issue. No evidence was presented at the PCR hearing to support the allegation that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise the issue.<sup>2</sup> The Order of Dismissal also does not address this specific issue. Petitioner seems to advocate this Court adopting a plain error analysis. South Carolina does not recognize the plain error rule. “The appellants have the responsibility to identify errors on appeal, not the Court.” Kennedy v. South Carolina Ret. Sys., 349 S.C. 531, 532-33, 564 S.E.2d 322, 322-23 (2001). “This Court has consistently refused to apply the plain error rule.” Jackson v. Speed, 326 S.C. 289, 306, 486 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997). This issue is not preserved, but even if it was it not meritorious.

**B. The mutual combat jury instruction was appropriately charged.**

Petitioner argues that if raised on direct appeal, the mutual combat issue would have been successful because it was not supported by the evidence. Nonetheless, the evidence that

---

<sup>2</sup> Petitioner seems to insinuate that PCR counsel’s failure to present evidence on this claim was somehow driven by his employment with the former Fifth Circuit Solicitor’s law firm. (PWC p. 9). This is a baseless and inappropriate allegation meant to distract from the issues.

Petitioner and other came to the Waffle House to fight rival gang members and fired shots was sufficient to allow for the charging of mutual combat.

The doctrine of mutual combat has existed in South Carolina law since 1843. State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 589 S.E.2d 1 (2003). In Taylor, the supreme court acknowledged the doctrine had “fallen out of common use in recent years” but still found it to be binding law. Id. The escalating urban warfare in present-day society has resurrected the need for a doctrine of mutual combat. Here, the State took the long-standing and viable theory of mutual combat and applied it to modern day facts.

In order for the doctrine of mutual combat to be asserted and an instruction on the law given to the jury, multiple factors must be shown. In determining whether mutual combat exists, there must be evidence of a “mutual intent and willingness to fight.” Jackson v. State, 355 S.C. 568, 571, 586 S.E.2d 562, 563 (2003), quoting State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 49, 196 S.E.2d 495 (1973). One looks to the “acts and conduct of the parties and circumstances attending and leading up to the combat” to determine mutual intent. Id. Also, there must be an antecedent agreement to fight. Taylor, 356 S.C. at 234, 589 S.E.2d at 4. This agreement can be shown by evidence of “ill-will between the parties”, threats, and an “apparent willingness of each to engage in an armed encounter with the other” Id. The parties must also be armed and know the other to be armed. Id.

Here, the State presented evidence of all the factors for mutual combat and thus the theory was appropriately applied to this case. Numerous witnesses testified that rival gang members decided to meet up at the Waffle House to engage in a fight. Feldman specifically testified that Petitioner received a call regarding the planned fight and they then drove to the Waffle House. (App. p. 818). There was ill-will between the rival gang members, and they

congregated at the Waffle House to fight each other. Petitioner had a willingness to join the fight as evidenced by when he retrieved a gun from a vehicle and fired into the crowd of people. (App. p. 826-27). In conclusion, the deep-rooted doctrine of mutual combat is a valid theory on which to base a murder charge. Petitioner and Boone mutually engaged each other in an armed conflict in which it was reasonably foreseeable that someone could be killed. Furthermore, Boone's appellate counsel raised this *precise* issue on appeal, and the court of appeals affirmed Judge Keesley's decision to instruct on mutual combat. See State v. Boone, No. 2013-UP-155 (filed April 17, 2013). Therefore, when reaching the merits of the issue, Judge Keesley properly instructed the jury on mutual combat and certiorari should be denied.

**II. Counsel was not deficient because the transferred intent jury instruction was appropriately charged. Also, any objection would have been futile.**

Next, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in failing to find Counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the jury instruction on transferred intent.

The law on mutual combat in South Carolina has yet to address the scenario where an innocent bystander is killed instead of a combatant. Nevertheless, it is only logical that transferred intent would apply in such a situation. Transferred intent applies to cases where an innocent bystander is killed, rather than the intended victim. South Carolina recognizes that "if there was malice in [defendant's] heart, he was guilty of the crime charged, it matters not whether he killed his intended victim or a third person through mistake." State v. Heyward, 197 S.C. 371, 377, 15 S.E.2d 669, 672 (1941). Thus, transferred intent holds the defendant liable for the harm caused to an innocent bystander. See, e.g., State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 272, 531 S.E.2d 512, 515 (2000) (A person who, acting with malice, unleashes a deadly force in an attempt to kill or

injure an intended victim should anticipate that the law will require him to answer fully for his deeds when that force kills or injures an unintended victim.).

The California Supreme Court upheld a murder conviction based on the theories of mutual combat and transferred intent in a similar setting. People v. Sanchez, 26 Cal. 4th 834, 29 P.3d 209 (2001). In referencing the concurring opinion's analysis of transferred intent, the majority opinion stated in a footnote:

For purposes of applying the rule of transferred intent, it does not matter whether defendant himself fired the fatal shot or instead induced or provoked another to do so; in either situation, defendant's culpable mental state is determined as if the person harmed were the person defendant meant to harm.

26 Cal. 4th at 850, 29 P.3d at 220.

In concluding that each defendant was equally liable for the innocent bystander's death, the Court stated:

Because defendant and co-defendant, rival gang members, had equally culpable mental states and engaged in precisely the same conduct at the same time and place in exchanging shots in a gun battle, it was not unfair to hold them equally responsible for an innocent bystander's death, without regard to which of them actually fired the bullet

26 Cal. 4th at 854, 29 P.3d at 144.

Here, the PCR court did not err in finding that Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the jury instruction on transferred intent. If both parties contributed to the mutual combat, then both parties are actors in the gunfire and both parties are culpable for the resulting injury. Much like accomplice liability<sup>3</sup>, both parties should be held equally accountable for the consequences that result from creating a zone of danger. Mutual combatants' activities are

---

<sup>3</sup> "Under the 'hand of one is the hand of all' theory of accomplice liability, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose. A defendant may be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability pursuant to an indictment charging him only with the principal offense." State v. Gibson, 701 S.E.2d 766, 769 (S.C. App. 2010).

comparable to those of aiders and abettors because they encouraged each other to engage in an urban conflict. Reyes v. State, 783 So.2d 1129 (Fla.App. 3 Dist. 2001). Here, Petitioner, Boone, and others encouraged each other to fight and engaged in a lethal gun battle that resulted in the death of an innocent child. Since an innocent bystander was killed rather than one of the combatants, the doctrine of transferred intent was properly applied to transfer Petitioner's and Boone's criminal intent to the unintended victim. Therefore, the PCR court did not err.

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